1969

Security Leasing Company v. Flinco, Inc. v. Office Equipment Associates, A Corporation and John B. Johnson : Plaintiff and Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action to recover damages for cancellation and breach of certain lease agreements entered into between plaintiff-appellant Security Leasing Company and defendant-respondent Flinco, Inc.

DISPOSITION IN THE DISTRICT COURT

The trial court rendered judgment on plaintiff-appellant's complaint in favor of defendant-respondent Flinco, Inc. and against plaintiff-respondent Security Leasing Company, no cause of action.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff-appellant Security Leasing Company seeks reversal of the judgment and requests that this court direct the District Court to enter judgment in favor of plaintiff-appellant Security Leasing Company and against defendant-respondent Flinco in accordance with the evidence properly presented.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 1965, Flinco was in the market for a machine to handle its data processing (R. 213-214). At that time, Flinco was using Sentinel Life Insurance Company's computer to handle its work (R. 214). Because of Flinco's close ties with Sentinel, Bob Mastelotto, the manager at Flinco, relied upon Sentinel's employees and took them into his confidence in trying to decide how best to improve the data processing at Flinco (R. 215). In this regard, Sentinel sent Jim Montgomery, their data processing manager and programmer analyst, to Flinco to help evaluate their operation and see if any improvements could be made in data processing (R. 300). After having made his evaluation, he discussed his recommendations and the various possibilities that existed with Mr. Mastelotto (R. 301). During this same period of time, Mr. Mastelotto visited Friden, IBM, National Cash Register, and Ford Motor Company to learn about the different types of machines that were available to do data processing work (R. 193). After he had seen what was available and learned the capabilities of the various types of machines, he determined that a computer, or something equivalent, was the way to go (R. 193-194). The decision, however, was contrary to the recommendation of Jim Montgomery of Sentinel (R. 302).

After having decided to go with the computer, Mr. Mastelotto was mainly interested in the price (R. 218). In this regard, he contacted John Johnson of Office Equipment Associates, who was referred to him by Eddie Mecham of Sentinel (R. 217-218). A meeting between Mr. Mastelotto and Mr. Johnson ensued in which the availability of a computer, the price, and the capabilities of the machine were discussed (R. 194, 309). Thereafter, other conversations took place between the two concerning the practical ways in which the machine would be set up so as to become operational and the manner in which the machine would be paid for (R. 197). Mr. Mastelotto decided to lease the computer but it was understood, at that time, that the lease was not to start until after the computer was installed and all work necessary to place the machine in proper working order was accomplished at which time additional instruments would be executed, including a release, and the lease payments would then begin (R. 197, 313-314).

Upon delivery of the computer on April 26, 1965, Mr. Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, executed a document entitled Master Lease Agreement. (Exhibit P-1). During the next three months, installation and all other work necessary to place the computer in proper working order was performed by Mr. Johnson (R. 199-200, 226, 314-315). On July 29, 1965, Mr. Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, executed a document entitled Schedule A of the Master Lease Agreement, (Exhibit P-2), whereby Flinco agreed to lease the computer for a period of 60 months, and Flinco started making lease payments as of July 30, 1965. Also on July 29, 1965, a one-year Maintenance Agreement, (Exhibit D-6) was executed to cover the computer. On August 2, 1965, Mr. Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, executed a document entitled Lessor's Statement and Completion Certificate, (Exhibit P-4), in which he acknowledged that "all

installation or other work necessary to the use thereof has been completed; that (the computer) (has) been examined and/or tested and (is) in good operating order and condition and (is) in all respects satisfactory to (Flinco) and as represented, and that the (computer) has been accepted by (Flinco) for the purpose of said Equipment Lease.”

Flinco used the computer for a period of 16 months, from July 30, 1965 until December 2, 1966, at which time Mr. Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, notified the lessor, Security Leasing Company, that it was terminating the lease and requested that the lessor immediately remove the computer from Flinco's place of business. (Exhibit P-5). No prior notification of any dissatisfaction with the computer had been given the lessor by Flinco (R. 239).

On March 22, 1966, Mr. Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, executed a document entitled Schedule A of the Master Lease Agreement, (Exhibit P-3), whereby Flinco agreed to lease a TCPC unit (Tape Card Punch Control Unit) for a period of 60 months with payments to begin on May 30, 1966. It was upon the recommendation of Jim Montgomery of Sentinel that Flinco decided to obtain the TCPC unit (R. 306) although Mr. Johnson arranged for its procurement (R. 207). The lease covering the TCPC unit was also terminated by Mr. Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, in his letter of December 2, 1966 to Security Leasing Company. (Exhibit P-5).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE ORAL TESTIMONY TO VARY OR CONTRADICT MATTERS ALREADY COVERED BY THE WRITTEN INSTRUMENTS IN

VIOLATION OF THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE.

In a very recent case, *Rainford v. Rytting*,Utah 2d....., 451 P.2d 769 (1969), the Utah Supreme Court acknowledged the parol evidence rule as follows:

“The rule is well settled that, where the parties have reduced to writing what appears to be a complete and certain agreement, it will, in the absence of fraud, be conclusively presumed that the writing contained the whole of the agreement between the parties, that it is a complete memorial of such agreement, and that parol evidence of contemporaneous conversations, representations, or statements will not be received for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the written document.”

The parol evidence rule was acknowledged in *Youngren v. John W. Lloyd Construction Company*, 22 Utah 2d 207, 450 P.2d 985 (1969), another recent Utah Supreme Court case as follows:

“When parties have negotiated on a subject and thereafter entered into a written contract, it should be assumed that their prior negotiations are fused into the contract so that it represents their full agreement with respect thereto; and that, consequently, after its due execution, extraneous evidence should ordinarily not be permitted to add to, subtract from, vary or contradict it.”

In *Jones v. Acme Building Products, Inc.*, 22 Utah 2d 202, 450 P.2d 743 (1969), yet another recent Utah Supreme Court case concerning the parol evidence rule, the Court cited, as authority, *Emphraim Theatre Co. v. Hawk*, 7 Utah 2d 163, 321 P.2d 221 (1958), wherein the Court stated:

"The purpose of a contract is to reduce to writing the conditions upon which the minds of the parties have met and to fix their rights and duties in respect thereto, and intent so expressed is to be found, if possible, within the four corners of instrument itself in accordance with the ordinary accepted meaning of words used.

"Unless there is ambiguity or uncertainty in language of contract so that the meaning is confused or is susceptible of more than one meaning, *there is no justification for interpretation or explanation from extraneous sources, since it would defeat the very purpose of formal contracts to permit a party to invoke use of words or conduct inconsistent with its terms to prove that parties did not mean what they said, or to use such inconsistent words or conduct to demonstrate uncertainty or ambiguity where none would otherwise exist.*

"Generally, neither of the parties, nor the Court may ignore or modify conditions which are clearly expressed merely because they may subject one of the parties to hardship, but they must be enforced in accordance with the intention as manifested by language used by the parties to the contract." (emphasis added)

In the case at bar, there are four separate instruments which were executed by the parties, namely: Master Lease Agreement (Exhibit P-1), executed by Flinco on April 26, 1965; Schedule A, Amendment No. 1 to the Master Lease Agreement (Exhibit P-2), executed by Flinco on July 29, 1965; Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4), executed by Flinco on August 2, 1965; and Schedule A, Amendment No. 2, to the Master Lease Agreement, (Exhibit P-3), executed by Flinco on March 22, 1966.

As mentioned in the statement of facts, there was an additional instrument entitled Maintenance Agreement (Exhibit D-6), under which John Johnson of Office Equipment Associates agreed to render maintenance service on the equipment leased by Flinco from Security Leasing Company for a period of one year.

It is submitted that the execution of these instruments constituted an "integration", that is, the final and complete expression of the agreement of the parties concerning the leased equipment.

Restatement of Contracts, Section 228, defines "integration" as follows:

"An agreement is integrated where the parties thereto adopt a writing or *writings* as the final and complete expression of the agreement. An integration is the writing or *writings* so adopted." (emphasis added)

Restatement of Contracts, Section 237, states:

"The integration of an agreement makes inoperative to add to or vary the agreement all contemporaneous oral agreements relating to the same subject matter, and also, unless the integration is void, or voidable and avoided, *all prior oral or written agreements relating thereto.*" (emphasis added)

On April 26, 1965, contemporaneously with the delivery of a machine called a computer which Flinco desired to lease, Flinco executed an instrument entitled Master Lease Agreement (Exhibit P-1) wherein Flinco agreed, among other things, to "lease the machines provided for in Schedule A attached hereto and made a part hereof . . . and to pay for the

leased property the monthly payments specified in Schedule A. Such payment and the leasehold term . . . shall commence at the time of the signing of the lease, or upon delivery of the item to the lessee(s), whichever is later." Because of the nature of the equipment to be leased, it was understood by Flinco, the party sought to be bound under the lease, that the lease payments would not start until after installation and all work necessary to place the machine in proper working order was accomplished, at which time, Schedule A, which was part of the lease, would be signed together with a release (R. 197, 313-314) thereby making the Lease Agreement complete.

On July 29, 1965, some three months after delivery of the computer, Flinco executed an instrument entitled Schedule A of the Master Lease Agreement (Exhibit P-2) wherein Flinco agreed, among other things, to lease the computer for "a period of 60 months, at \$129.00 + 4.52 tax per month beginning July 30, 1965."

On August 2, 1965, some four days after the execution of Schedule A (Exhibit P-2), Flinco executed an instrument entitled Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4) wherein Flinco acknowledged among other things, "that the (computer) (has been) delivered to and received by (Flinco); that all installation or other work necessary prior to the use thereof has been completed, that (the computer) (has) been examined and/or tested and (is) in good operating order and condition and (is) in all respect(s) satisfactory to (Flinco) and as represented, and that the (computer) has been accepted by (Flinco) for the purpose of (the Equipment Lease dated July 29, 1965)."

It is submitted that the Master Lease Agreement (Exhibit P-1), Schedule A (Exhibit P-2) and Lessee's Statement and

Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4), all together, constitute the final and complete expression of the agreement of the parties concerning the lease of the computer.

Based upon the Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4) executed by Flinco on August 2, 1965, it is submitted that all testimony of any witness concerning oral statements and representations or agreements and understanding allegedly made by the parties or their authorized representatives prior to August 2, 1965, should not have been admitted into evidence if such alleged oral statements, representations, agreements or understandings relate to matters already covered in the Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate, absent any proof of fraud in the inducement. Therefore, any oral statements, representations, agreements or understandings allegedly made prior to August 2, 1965, which relate to the following matters should not have been admitted into evidence:

- (1) the installation or other work necessary prior to the use of the computer (this would include programming since the computer would have to be programmed prior to the use thereof);
- (2) the examination and/or testing of the computer;
- (3) the operating order and condition of the computer;
- (4) the satisfaction of Flinco with the computer;
- (5) the representations made by John Johnson as to what the computer would or would not do;
- (6) the acceptance of the computer by Flinco for the purpose of the lease.

Flinco did not allege any fraud in its Amended Answer (R. 26-31), nor did it offer any proof of fraud in the execution of the three instruments above referred to.

At trial, Mr. Mastelotto testified that the only reason he signed the Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4) was because of the alleged threat of Mr. Johnson that if Mr. Mastelotto did not sign it Mr. Johnson would abandon them and since they had already spent so much money and time on the project Mr. Mastelotto signed the instrument (R. 200-201). Mr. Johnson denied these allegations and alleged that no such threats were made and, further, that the Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4) was signed by Mr. Mastelotto at Sentinel in Eddie Mecham's office in the presence of and with the apparent approval of Eddie Mecham and Jim Montgomery (R. 318-319).

There is no evidence in the record as to any fraud, duress or undue influence in the execution of Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4) nor is there any evidence in the record as to any expense or damages incurred by Flinco prior to or after the execution of said instrument. As a matter of fact, Flinco had paid nothing to Security Leasing Company, John Johnson, or Office Equipment Associates prior to its execution on August 2, 1965, other than the first lease payment due under the lease dated July 29, 1965.

Notwithstanding the parol evidence rule, however, the trial court admitted into evidence testimony as to certain statements and representations allegedly made by John Johnson to Bob Mastelotto and Estella Anderson of Flinco as to what the computer was capable of doing, as well as testimony concerning the dissatisfaction of Flinco with the computer because the machine allegedly never did do what John Johnson said it

would do, all of which were allegedly made prior to August 2, 1965, the date the Completion Certificate was executed. This testimony was admitted over appellant's strenuous and continuing objections (R. 85, 86, 96, 100-105, 113, 149-150, 193).

We respectfully submit that the self serving testimony of Bob Mastelotto and Estella Anderson of Flinco which concerned alleged oral statements and representations as well as alleged oral agreements and understandings between the parties should not have been admitted into evidence since they varied with or contradicted matters already covered in the written instruments and were therefore admitted in violation of the parol evidence rule.

POINT II

IN ADDITION TO THE FACT THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING ORAL TESTIMONY TO ALTER OR CONTRADICT THE TERMS OF THE WRITTEN INSTRUMENTS, THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE WEIGHT OF SUCH PAROL EVIDENCE IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT FLINCO.

The Master Lease Agreement (Exhibit P-1), executed by Flinco on April 26, 1965, provided that "no representations, no express or implied warranties, regarding the equipment herein leased, has been made by Security Leasing Company". In the Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4), executed by Flinco on August 2, 1965, Flinco acknowledged that the computer was "in all respects satisfactory and as represented."

Notwithstanding these written instruments, and in violation of the parol evidence rule, the trial court allowed into evidence oral testimony concerning (1) the alleged representation of John Johnson as to the capabilities of the computer in handling Flinco's data processing work and (2) the alleged dissatisfaction of Flinco with the computer because the machine allegedly never did do what John Johnson said it would do.

We submit that Flinco did not rely solely upon the representations of Mr. Johnson as to the computer's capabilities since Bob Mastelotto, Flinco's manager, had already decided to obtain a computer, by purchase or lease, before he even contacted Mr. Johnson, who merely confirmed what Mr. Mastelotto had already learned about the computer's capabilities on his visits to Friden, the manufacturer of the computer, IBM, National Cash Register and Ford Motor Company (R. 193-194, 216).

Mr. Mastelotto stated that Mr. Johnson represented that the computer was capable of handling invoicing and accounts receivable, accounts payable and payroll (R. 194, 309). That a computer is capable of performing these functions was confirmed by Mr. James P. Rice of Friden, the manufacturer of the computer (R. 170).

The computer itself is merely a supplier of information and must therefore be used in conjunction with a computer in order to handle invoicing and accounts receivable, accounts payable, payroll or any other accounting function (R. 304). Flinco had been using the computer at Sentinel to handle their data processing before they became interested in a computer (R. 215). The information which the computer needed to handle these various accounting functions was done by hand

prior to obtaining the computer. The computer would simply supply certain information that the computer needed and eliminate some work which was previously done by hand. Once it was determined what information the computer would need, the computer would be programmed to supply this information.

Therefore, in order for John Johnson to program the computer so that it would supply the necessary information, he needed to find out what information the computer would need (R. 304-305). In this regard, Bob Mastelotto arranged a meeting between Mr. Johnson and the data processing men at Sentinel, namely Eddie Mecham and Jim Montgomery (R. 220). It was decided at this time that the computer would be programmed to supply the information that Sentinel's computer would need to handle invoicing and accounts receivable (R. 304-305). In this regard, Jim Montgomery instructed Mr. Johnson as to what information Sentinel's computer would need to provide the reportage which Flinco wanted, that is, invoicing and accounts receivable (R. 303-305).

Mr. Montgomery testified that in order to handle invoicing and accounts receivable for Flinco, which was the reportage that Mr. Mastelotto had communicated to Mr. Montgomery that he wanted (R. 303), Sentinel's computer would need the following information: invoice number, customer number, station number, inventory number, salesman's number, quantity and price (R. 304). Mr. Montgomery further testified that as of July 29, 1965, the effective date of the Lease Agreement (Exhibits P-1 and P-2), the computer checked out okay and was supplying all the information set forth above that was necessary for the computer to handle invoicing and accounts receivable (R. 305).

A few days later, on August 2, 1965, in Eddie Mecham's office of Sentinel in the presence of and with the apparent approval of Eddie Mecham and Jim Montgomery, Bob Mastelotto, on behalf of Flinco, executed the Lessee's Statement and Completion Certificate (Exhibit P-4) in which it was acknowledged that the computer "was in good operating order and condition and in all respects satisfactory and as represented" (R. 318-319).

It is submitted that the testimony of Jim Montgomery was the most reliable and unbiased of any witness who testified throughout the entire trial. He worked for Sentinel which was closely associated with Flinco and had no personal or financial interest in this matter whatsoever.

Instead of relying upon the written instruments and the testimony of Jim Montgomery which supported said instruments, the trial court apparently chose to rely upon the testimony of Bob Mastelotto. Mr. Mastelotto knew the capabilities of a computer and had already made the decision to obtain one, either by purchase or lease, before he contacted John Johnson (R. 216), and yet he inferred in his testimony that he did not have available to him the advice of experts in the area of data processing to whom he could turn concerning the advisability of obtaining a computer (R. 211, 215). Both Eddie Mecham and Jim Montgomery had many discussions with Bob Mastelotto about the various possibilities that existed to improve Flinco's data processing (R. 301). In January, February and March of 1965, Jim Montgomery was sent to Flinco by Sentinel to study and evaluate their data processing operation and make suggestions and recommendations as to how the system could be improved and the different possibilities that existed (R. 300). Jim Montgomery discussed these recommendations

and possibilities with Bob Mastelotto before John Johnson ever came into the picture (R. 217-218). After Bob Mastelotto decided to obtain a computer but prior to, or shortly after, its installation, Jim Montgomery expressed his opinion to Bob Mastelotto that he did not think the computer was the way to go (R. 302). Notwithstanding this advice, Bob Mastelotto went ahead.

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