1969

Security Leasing Company v. Flinco, Inc. v. Office Equipment Associates, A Corporation and John B. Johnson : Respondent's Brief

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDING THAT THE WRITTEN INSTRUMENTS ARE NOT ALL OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTIES.

POINT II

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDINGS THAT THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES WAS NOT PERFORMED BY PLAINTIFF.

POINT III

DEFENDANT PAID IN FULL ALL RENT DUE PRIOR TO CANCELLATION OF THE LEASE.

A R G U M E N T

POINT I

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDING THAT THE WRITTEN INSTRUMENTS ARE NOT ALL OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTIES.

One of the basic issues presented by the parties in their pleadings and statements to the court was whether or not there was an integration containing all of the agreements between the plaintiff and defendant. The court found that there was not an integrated written agreement and that part of the agreement was in writing, but a substantial amount of the understanding between the parties was not in writing.

The agreements signed by both parties were on forms which the plaintiff used in routine rental agreements. These forms applied to situations where a renter selected the item of personal property and Security Leasing would then purchase that property and lease it back to the customer. The rental arrangement being one which would provide a method of financing the purchase or rental of personal property. This was not the situation with Flinco. The undisputed evidence revealed that Security Leasing always owned the Computyper and that Office Equipment Associates and John B. Johnson were actually acting as agents for Security Leasing in placing the Computyper with Flinco. Flinco never did select

the Computyer and have Security Leasing purchase it for them, but actually rented a used item of equipment from Security Leasing.

The agreements do not describe such a transaction. The evidence undisputedly shows the ownership of the equipment and the manner in which it was supplied to Flinco. On three material matters, the written documents do not describe the true and correct understanding. They are, (a) relationship of parties, (b) ownership of the leased equipment, (c) duty of plaintiff to program and maintain the Computyer.

The written document, (Exhibit D-7), shows that Security Leasing was to program the Computyer into Flinco's business and maintain it for a year.

It might be argued that Flinco is responsible for the fact that these documents do not accurately described the understanding between the parties. If Flinco is in some way at fault in this respect, how much greater is the responsibility of the plaintiff, Security Leasing, since the forms furnished and the agreements that were prepared were its forms and prepared by its agents and employees. If the principle to apply is that construction should resolve doubt against preparer of instruments, Security must suffer.

It seems clear that it is a factual question as to whether or not the understanding between the parties

is contained in the written document or is partially oral. On this question the undisputed evidence supports the court's finding that there was no integration. The agreement between the parties was partly in writing and partly oral. (See Findings of Fact, No. 2, Page 57).

The general rule seems to be that:

“Where suit is brought to compel a defendant specifically to perform a written contract, parol evidence may be given by him to show that the alleged agreement is not the true agreement.” (Jones on Evidence (5 Ed), Vol. 2, Sec. 469, P. 897.)

The law relating to parol evidence has been recently examined in this court in *Rainford vs. Rytting*, Utah 2d, 451 P2d 769. The guarantors of a purchase contract sought to avoid its provisions by showing conditions or oral agreements which were at odds with the terms of the written contract. Such evidence was inadmissible. This court also has recently decided *Jones vs. Acme Building Products, Inc.*, 22 Utah 2d 202, 450 P2d 743, in which it permitted parol evidence from one of the parties to explain what was intended by the words “net worth” in a written instrument since such words are susceptible to more than one meaning. It is an exception to parol evidence that where there is a latent ambiguity in the language of a written instrument, parol evidence may be received to explain what the parties had in mind.

In the present case the written instruments do not refer to the programming of the Computyper. This necessary and essential part of the installation of the Computyper is nowhere mentioned. Exhibit P-1, the lease, is entirely silent. Plaintiff accepted the responsibility for programming the Computyper (See Exhibit D-7). It paid Office Equipment Associates to program and maintain the Computyper.

As far as the programming of the Computyper is concerned, the written documents were incomplete. This creates a latent ambiguity. The written documents are not integrated and are actually incomplete. Parol evidence would have to be received then to discover what the agreement relating to the programming of the Computyper was. This kind of latent ambiguity and incompleteness of written instruments has always been recognized as an exception to the parol evidence rule. In *Fox Film Corp. vs. Ogden Theatre Company, Inc.*, 82 Utah 279, 17 P2d 294, the court discussed at some length the parol evidence rule and the exceptions thereto and stated, after reciting the rule, at Page 282:

“There are numerous exceptions to this rule, however, most of which pertain to informal writings, incomplete memoranda, unilateral documents and other writings that do not purport to set forth the entire contract” * * *

The court then continued and stated, Page 283:

“One well-recognized exception to the above rule is that extrinsic evidence, parol or otherwise, is admissible to explain a latent ambiguity in a writing. This does not mean that terms or conditions may be inserted into or taken out of the writing by direct oral assertions, but it does mean that the court may receive evidence of such surrounding facts as will enable it to look upon the transaction through the eyes of the parties thereto and thereby know what they understood or intended the ambiguous word or provision to mean. 4 Jones Commentary on Evidence #1544, etc.”

As an example of what the court had in mind as far as latent ambiguity is concerned, the court in *Fox Film Corp. vs. Ogden Theatre Company, Inc.*, supra, cited the early case of *Boley vs. Butterfield*, 57 Utah 262, 194 P. 128. In this case there was a lease of summer grazing for sheep and in it no mention was made of whether or not the lessee was to have the exclusive use of the range for his sheep. As a matter of fact, the lessor had also leased to another sheep grazer. The first lessee refused to pay any rent on the grazing right. Trial court, noting the failure of the lease to state whether or not it was exclusive, permitted the lessor to state that he had advised the lessee prior to the lease that it was not an exclusive lease.

The *Boley vs. Butterfield* principle applies exactly to the present situation. There is no mention in any

of the documents as to who is to program the Computer and place in its electronic control panel the various circuits that will make the machine produce the records that Flinco needed. This omitted item, on which the written contracts are incomplete, had to be supplied to the court by parol evidence. The parol evidence is without conflict. All of the evidence demonstrated that this was a responsibility of plaintiff and it actually paid third party defendant to do the work of programming.

It is respectfully submitted that the court's finding that there was no written integrated agreement is supported by evidence. The written part was incomplete and contained a latent ambiguity. Under such circumstances the court may ascertain what the agreement between the parties was and then determine their rights.

POINT II

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDINGS THAT THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES WAS NOT PERFORMED BY PLAINTIFF.

The court found that part of the agreement between the parties was that the Computer would be programmed, maintained and serviced for one year at the expense of the plaintiff. (See Findings of Fact, No. 3 Page 57). Court further found that the plaintiff attempted to program the defendant's business. The

programming was to be conducted in stages, and only a part of defendant's business was ever programmed into the Computyper. (See Findings of Fact, No. 4, Page 57). Court further found that the plaintiff and third party defendants, who were plaintiff's agents, never were able to program fully the business of defendant into the Computyper machine so that it would supply the business records needed by the defendant. (Findings of Fact, No. 5, Page 57).

The three foregoing findings of the court were supported by evidence supplied by the plaintiff and the defendant. (See Statement of Facts for specific reference to testimony).

Defendant's evidence, in the form of testimony from Mr. Mastelotto, Mrs. Anderson and Miss Khant, was uncontradicted. Plaintiff made an attempt to program the business over the period of time that the Computyper was present. Finally, in an attempt to obtain the records needed by defendant, the TCPC was ordered. It was thought that with this machine converting the taped information immediately to the IBM card, that the errors which were turning up in the material produced by the Computyper would be quickly apparent. After six months of this system, Flinco came to the conclusion that it could not make the Computyper work. After sixteen months, the programming had never been completed. All that the Computyper was ever programmed for was the accounts receivable and the invoicing of sales at

Flinco's place of business. It still had not produced the cash and credit sales as separate, total items, and neither the inventory nor the payroll had been placed on the Computyper (R. 266).

It is the defendant's position that no evidence was ever supplied by plaintiff or by third party defendant which could be the basis of a finding that the programming of defendant's business into the Computyper was completed. This was a material matter. The very essence of the lease agreement. The breach was the basis on which the termination of the lease was claimed by Flinco in its letter of December 2, 1966.

Defendant submits the termination was justified.

POINT III

DEFENDANT PAID IN FULL ALL RENT DUE PRIOR TO CANCELLATION OF THE LEASE.

Defendant paid the rent on the machines supplied by the Security Leasing up through the date of notice of termination December 2, 1966. Defendant tried in every way to get satisfactory performance from the Computyper. (See Statement of Facts for record references). It ordered an additional piece of equipment which would assist in translating the Computyper information into the IBM card. It suffered for sixteen months with incomplete and inaccurate records.

Plaintiff claims that the failure to cancel earlier than December 2, 1966 is laches on the defendant's part. It is defendant's position that during this period of time it was attempting to make such adjustments and accommodations as would give the Computyper, the plaintiff, and Mr. John B. Johnson of Office Equipment Associates, a reasonable chance to perform under the lease agreement. In *Hanson Silo Company vs. Bennett*, 254 Iowa 928, 119 NW 2d 764, the court quoted 12 *Am Jur, Contracts*, #447, P. 1029 as the rule: (P.767)

“The general rule is that the right to rescind must be exercised within a reasonable time, although there is authority to the effect that the mere question of how much time a party to a contract has permitted to lapse is not necessarily determinative of the right to rescind, the important consideration being whether the period has been long enough to result in prejudice to the other party.”

It is undisputed that the machine could produce the records if it were properly programmed and operating in the manner that it was designed to operate (R. 166).

Plaintiff could not be damaged by the defendant's extended efforts to get the machine to operate properly. It received its rent for the full period. It did not stay its hand in reliance on defendant's conduct. Its agent Johnson knew at all times that the programming was not complete. *Corpus Juris Secun-*

dum, Vol. 17A, Section 531 Contracts, Page 1026, states as the general rule in re laches:

“As a general rule, where there are no contractual limitations, a party to an agreement may bring an action at any time until the action is barred by the statute of limitations, and mere delay or laches, short of the statutory period of limitations and not connected with such facts as may amount to an estoppel, is not a bar to an action at law on the contract. However, where one seeking to enforce a contract has by his conduct and unreasonable delay brought about an undue hardship which by his diligence could have been avoided, relief will be denied.”

The evidence supplied by defendant from the witnesses James P. Rice and George S. Burnett, who are local employees of the Friden Company, convinced the court that John B. Johnson, the agent of plaintiff who was charged with the duty of programming the Computyper, did not have the necessary training and experience to wire into the electronic control panels the program which Flinco needed.

As explained by these expert witnesses, the programming of a business into the Computyper requires the removal from the Computyper of the program it originally had operated on (R. 162). A secondhand machine, such as the equipment supplied by Security Leasing, has already been programmed (R. 161). The problem of removal of the old program, that is

disconnecting the electronic panel circuits and inserting a new program, is more complicated than the inserting of a program into a new machine that has not already been wired with a program (R. 171).

Mr. Johnson had been an employee of Friden prior to setting up his own business in the name of Office Equipment Associates and had worked as a sales representative with the Friden Company. However, he had never been trained or designated as a programmer of the Friden equipment (R. 153). His job while at Friden, even when his testimony is taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, was that of a sales representative who on occasion had assisted in the programming of machines (R. 171-172). A programmer is someone who has the highest degree of technical skill, ability and training in the handling of the Friden Computyper. It was undisputed by any testimony that there is not in the state of Utah or in the area serviced by the local Friden office, a person trained to program the Computyper that was supplied to Flinco. The closest trained, designated programmer for this kind of equipment is at Denver (R. 159).

Security Leasing obligated itself to program the Computyper rented to Flinco. This is standard practice in the rental or sale of the equipment (R. 172). The only person who attempted to accomplish the programming is John B. Johnson, plaintiff's agent. Plaintiff furnished no evidence whatsoever that it

ever attempted to get from the Friden Company a designated, qualified programmer to insert into the Computyper the program necessary to produce for Flinco its business information.

The court finding that the programming was never fully accomplished is undisputed. That the Computyper was never able to supply the business records which defendant needed is also supported by all the evidence.

It is respectfully submitted that findings of the court as set forth in this point were supported not only by a preponderance of the evidence, but by undisputed and uncontradicted evidence and were the only findings which would reasonably have been made under the state of the evidence as shown by this record.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the decision of the trial court should be affirmed, that the defendant should have its costs incurred.